FILED

NOV 20 2006

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY W. LADD

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-KA-00429-COA

Appeal from Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

COPY

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr. Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 178 Newton, MS 39345 Telephone (601)683-3387 Facsimile (601) 683-3110 MS Bar No.

٠.

Oral argument not requested.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

1

JOHNNY W. LADD

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-KA-00429-COA

Appeal from Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1) THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION OF APPELLANT'S TESTIMONY ABOUT SANDY TULLOS LADD STEALING HIS INCOME TAS REFUND.

2) THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR EXPERT ASSISTANCE.

3) THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE PROSECUTION'S OBJECTION TO APPELLANT'S CROSS EXAMINATION OF PROSECUTION WITNESS TRACEY BEASLEY ABOUT A STATEMENT ASHTON LEIGH SANDERS MADE TO HER THAT ASHTON SANDERS HAD ENGAGED IN SEXUAL INTERCOURSE BEFORE THIS INCIDENT BEFORE THE COURT, CONTRADICTING SANDERS' PRIOR TESTIMONY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Johnny W. Ladd, appeals his conviction by the Circuit Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, of the charge of statutory rape and a sentence of twenty (20) years confinement in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, with five (5) years suspended, and Appellant placed on probation for five (5) years.

The primary evident against Appellant was:

(a) the testimony of the alleged victim, Ashton Leigh Sanders, that while she was a guest in the home of her aunt Kim Sanders, she woke from a sound sleep to find she was engaging in sexual intercourse with another houseguest, the Appellant, (T-44) at a time when she was fifteen (15) years old and he was and adult, and (b) the testimony of Reliagene Technologies DNA analyst Huma Nasir (T-156)

that Appellant's DNA had been found in vaginal swabs reported to her as obtained from

Ashton Leigh Sanders (T-163).

She further testified (T-164):

A. Okay. Once we obtain our profile, we take it one step further to give us some way to see exactly wheat the changes that somebody else may have contributed to this DNA, and that chance that somebody else may have contribute to this DNA sample, other that Johnny Ladd, is one in fifty-four-point-three quintillion people of Caucasian population.

Q. So that myself and the jury might get an idea of how much is a quintillion, what is the population of the entire earth?

A. The population of the earth is about six billion.

Q. That includes men and women?

A. Yes

Q. And how may zeroes are in a billion?

A. Nine.

Q. And a quintillion and this is one in fifty-four-point-three quintillions if a person, the chance that somebody else could have been the sperm donor on those swabs, how many zeros are in a quintillion?

A. Quintillion had eighteen zeroes.

Q. One quintillion is two times a billion?

A. Yes.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

· ` ·

1) If evidence has any probative value it is relevant. The phrase "any tendency" in MRE 401 is a permissive call for admissibility of evidence. Background facts with no tendency to prove or disprove a proposition at issue maybe admissible because they amplify the evidence and thus assist the trier of fact.

2) When any indigent accused is confronted with scientific evidence against him, he has a constitutional right to expert assistance in preparing and presenting his defense.

3) An accused has the right to impeach a witness against him by introducing evidence that that witness has made a prior statement inconsistent with a statement he or she has made on the witness stand, whether or not either of the statements is relevant.

ARGUMENT

Ī

THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION OF APPELLANT'S TESIMONY ABOUT SANDY TULLOS LADD STEALING HIS INCOME TAX REFUND.

The alleged sexual intercourse between Appellant and Ashton Leigh Sanders

occurred at the home of Kim Sanders, aunt of Ashton Leigh Sanders and a close friend of

Appellant's then wife, Sandy Tullos Ladd.

Then present in Kim Sander's house had been Ashton Leigh Sanders, Sandy Ladd,

Appellant, his two (2) children, and Kim Sanders' four (4) children (T-63). Kim Sanders

testified for the prosecution, that she had been told of the intercourse by Ashton Leigh

Sanders and had taken her to Neshoba General Hospital.

During the direct examination of Appellant, Johnny W. Ladd, the following colloquy

occurred (T-189,190):

Q. Where was the hayride Halloween night, 2003?

A. It was in east Neshoba out towards Ford Brothers Store.

Q. And on that particular night, did you have any conversation or talk with Kim Sanders?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. What was the nature of the conversation? Tell me whether or not there was any plans for you and your wife and your family to be at her house the next day? Was there such a plan?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. And whose idea was that?

A. It was Kim's.

Q. Okay. Would you tell me whether or not you had any other conversation with her regarding the next night?

A. We just got together, me and my wife and Kim, as far as they wanted the girls to come over and have a sleep over the next night, and later on that night, me and Kim got together by ourselves, a and she wanted to know if we wanted to fool around again.

Q. This is something that she brought up to you?

A. Yes

Q. And were you receptive to that?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you then have a plan for the next day?

A. Not really a plan.

Q. Tell me whether or not you had a condom with you when you went to her house the next day?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Why did you carry a condom?

A. Because we talked that night of the hayride, she wanted to have sex.

Q. Kim did?

A. Kim did, and, I mean, I had a condom in my billfold.

Later in his direct testimony came the following (T-193-195):

Q. Did you get up at any time during the night?

A. I did.

Q. Okay. About how long was it before you got up?

A. About an hour, and hour and---I don't really know. About an hour. I would say an hour.

Q. When you got up, tell us whether or not your wife, to your knowledge, was awake.

A. She was asleep.

Q. When you got up, where did you go?

A. I went to Kim Sanders' room, her bedroom.

Q. Do you agree with prior testimony that there were not doors on those bedrooms?

A. No doors.

Q. And what did you do when you go to Kim Sanders' room?

A. Me and her talked about a minute or two.

Q. And what did you do?

A. We went to her bathroom.

Q. Now, the bathroom, according to this drawing, is the only room in the house that does have a door; is that right?

A. Besides the living room door, the front door, that's the only---

Q. To get in the house?

A. Right,

Q. This door here is the only interior, inside the house, door?

A. Right.

Q. You and her went in the bathroom?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you close the door?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened in the bathroom?

A. We had sex that night.

Q. I want to know did you wear a condom when you had sex with Kim Sanders?

A. Yes, I did.

- Q. After you had sex with Kim Sanders, what did you do with the condom?
- A. I threw it in the trash.

Q. Would that be in the bathroom?

A. Yes it would.

Q. Was Kim Sanders present when you took the condom and threw it in the trash?

- A. Yes, she was.
- Q. Who left the bathroom first?
- A. She did.
- Q. What did you do?
- A. I left behind her.
- Q. And where did you go?
- A. I went back and got in the bed with my wife.

That morning Kim Sanders had talked to Ashton Leigh Sanders and had taken her to

Neshoba General Hospital (T-65). Appellant had been immediately arrested at Kim

Sanders' home and taken to jail.

Appellant further testified (T-197-198):

Q. Were you incarcerated for a period of time from you being picked up there on November the 2^{nd} , that morning? Were you incarcerated for a period of time?

- A. Until February the 12^{th} , were you then able to make a bond and get out?
- Q. Around February the 12^{th} , were you then able to make a bond and get out? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Tell me whether or not at that time, your then wife, Sandy Tullos Ladd, did she come to the detention center to see you?

A. She----it was tax time. She wanted my W-2 from my previous job.

Q. Tell us whether or not you are saying you had to give some authorization and consent from that to happen?

A. Yes.

Q. And you did give that?

A. No, I didn't.

Q. How much income tax were you due to receive?

A. It was over five thousand dollars.

Q. When you got out of jail on February the 12^{th} , were you able then to get your income tax return?

A. No, she got them out of the mailbox.

Q. Who is she?

A. Sandy got them out of our mailbox and forged my name to the W-2's and got the income tax money.

BY MR. THAMES: Your Honor, I am going to object. This is irrelevant.

BY THE COURT: Sustained.

Q. (Collins) When you were released from custody, since that time have you ever seen Sandy Tullos Ladd?

A. No.

÷.,

Q. Did you shortly thereafter initiate a divorce proceeding?

A. Yes.

Q. Who do your children live with?

A. They live with me and my wife.

Q. Your present wife, Wendy Ladd?

A. Yes.

The act of sexual intercourse between Appellant and Kim Sanders showed that, had

Kim desired to help Sandy in a possible divorce action, she had had the opportunity to

empty the condom into Ashton's vagina and thus implicate Appellant in a serious crime.

The incident described above was relevant because it was an illustration of the

strained relationship between Appellant and his then wife Sandy.

MRE 401 reads as follows:

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

Ferreira, Miss. Evidence (4th Ed.), Rule 401, pg. 42 explains:

The threshold for determining relevancy pursuant to the rule is minimal. The rule's broad phrase "any tendency" is considered to be a permissive call for admissibility of evidence. Background facts which per se have no tendency to prove or disprove a proposition at issue may, nonetheless, be admissible under Rule 401 simply on the theory that, by amplifying the evidence, they assist the trier of fact.

Whitten v. Cox, 799 So. 2d. 1 (Miss. 2000).

The testimony, objected to, easily met this minimal standard and was unquestionably

relevant. The Court's ruling was therefore error and abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

II

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR EXPERT ASSISTANCE

Appellant was found indigent by the trial court and was appointed trial counsel in forma pauperis (T-3). He moved (C.P. 8, 10) for appointment of medical and scientific forensic experts to help him prepare and present a defense to DNA evidence disclosed during discovery. The Court held a pretrial motion hearing during which Appellant's counsel produced no evidence and argued (T-4):

Your Honor, from the records that have been provided, there is a statement in the medical records that there's a possible contamination of the specimen. I'm no forensic scientist. I'm not trained in DNA. Your Honor, I know that there are procedures to prevent contamination, and the very idea that in the medical records that have been provided there's a suggestion of contamination, recognizing micro bacterial growth in the specimen.

The Court denied the motions (T-9; C.P. 12, 13) on the ground that Appellant did not present any evidence of his inability to pay the cost of securing experts (T-9). Appellant's trial counsel had relied on the Court's earlier finding that Appellant was indigent (T-3). The Court's denial of the motions follows (T-9);

So, I am going to deny your motions, and largely my ruling will be based upon there's no evidence of his resources, whether or not he has resources at all. You can't rely on the fact that he has had a Court-appointed attorney.

The ruling contains the Court's statement that Appellant had been provided a court appointed attorney. Implicit in such appointment was the ground for the understanding that Appellant was indigent. Appellant was likewise subsequently appointed appellate counsel (C.P. 32) in forma pauperis. In Ake v. Oklahoma 470 U.S. 68, 1055. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985), the United

States Supreme Court first recognized the viability of an indigent defendant's constitutional claim to expert assistance. Because of its compelling rationale, *Ake* has become a landmark decision. Before the decision in *Ake*, other courts had reached the same conclusion. *Lee v. Habib*, 137 U.S. App. D.C. 403,424 F 2d 891 (1970); *United States v. Germany*, 32 FRD 343 (D. Ala. 1963); *Williams v. Martin*, 618 F 2d 1021 (4th Cir S.C. 1980); *State v. Madison*, 345 So. 2d 485, 490 (La. 1977):

Furnishing counsel to the indigent defendant is not enough if counsel cannot secure information on which to construct a defense.... It is a fundamental principle that the kind of trial a man gets cannot be made to depend on the amount of money he has....Therefore when an indigent defendant shows that his attorney is unable to obtain existing evidence crucial to the defense, the means to obtain it should be provided for him, and if the indigent defender system cannot defray the expense, the State ought to supply funds.

Substantive due process requires that the Court recognize indigence where it is apparent from the whole of the record. That Appellant's trial counsel did not present evidence of a fact already determined by the Court should not be held against his client.

Both counsel for Appellant and the prosecutor had presumed indigence in their

arguments. The Court had a duty to recognize the likelihood that Appellant was indigent

and to inquire further into this issue if the Court was in doubt.

The failure to do this was error and resulted in Appellant's being denied fundamental due process.

If Appellant's motion had been granted, the mathematical error by the prosecutor and DNA analyst Huma Nasir (T-164) would certainly have been explored on cross examination.

ARGUMENT

III

THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE PROSECUTION'S OBJECTION TO APPELLANT'S CROSS EXAMINATION OF PROSECUTION WITNESS TRACY BEASLEY ABOUT A STATEMENT ASHTON LEIGH SANDERS MADE TO HER THAT ASHTON LEIGH SANDERS HAD ENGAGED IN SEXUAL INTERCOURSE BEFORE THIS INCIDENT BEFORE THE COURT,

CONTRADICTING SANDERS' PRIOR TESTIMONY.

Emergency room nurse, Tracy Beasley testified for the State, that she interviewed

and examined Ashton Leigh Sanders at Neshoba General Hospital in Philadelphia, MS

(T-10). On cross-examination the following colloquy occurred (T-76,77,78):

Q. There's already been some questioning of you about statements that you took from the Defendant. I particularly want to direct your attention and ask you did this Defendant make a statement—I'm sorry, this individual, Ashton Sanders, did she make a statement to you, that statement being---

BY MR.BROOKS: Your Honor, we are going to object to this. It's not relevant to the case.

BY THE COURT: Approach the Bench

(OFF RECORD CONVERSATION AT THE BENCH)

BY THE COURT: I am going to let this jury step out in the room for just a moment.

WHEREUPON, THE JURY WAS RETIRED TO THE JURY ROOM AND THE FOLLOWING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD OUT OF THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY;

BY THE COURT: All right. The jury has been retired to the room. Mr. Brooks, make your statement for the record.

BY MR BROOKS: Your Honor, as Your Honor well knows, the issue of whether or not the victim in this case was chaste or whether or not she had sexual intercourse before is not an issue under the law. We would be entitled to an instruction to that effect. What he is attempting to do by this question is to show the jury that she made a statement to this witness that she had had sexual intercourse before. Your Honor, we contend that that would prejudice our case. BY THE COURT: Mr. Collins, I will hear from you.

BY MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, he is absolutely right. It prejudices his case. But it goes to the issue of the truthfulness of the witness. As said on the witness stand, she told me she had never had intercourse before this night, but she's given another statement to this lady saying that she had. Your Honor, that's a lie any way that you slice it.

BY THE COURT: Well, of course, I think Mr. Brooks has stated the real purpose of the rule, in that this Defendant is charged with statutory rape, making whether she was chaste or not, whether she had had previous sexual activity or not, as being irrelevant. You are getting around that by showing it would be for the purpose of impeachment. Well, I don't feel it is for the purpose of impeachment. So, the objection is sustained. Bring in the jury

This ruling was later reconsidered by the Court at a hearing outside the presence of

the jury (T-81,82):

BY MR. COLLINS: Your Honor, through the witness Tracey Beasley on crossexamination, I attempted to introduce evidence that the alleged victim in this case, Ashton Sanders, made a statement to Tracey Beasley, the RN at the hospital, that she had had sexual intercourse in her past. Your Honor had a hearing and ruled this was inadmissible evidence. The statement the Court made was I was attempting to introduce evidence that was for a purpose other than the veracity of the witness.

Your Honor, the witness admitted when I had her on cross-examination, Ashton Sanders admitted that she told me that she had never had sex before. The medical records introduced in discovery indicate she did say to Tracey Beasley that she had had sex in the past.

Judge, this goes to the heart of the witness's credibility, veracity, her character, truthfulness. It's obviously the Defendant's right to cross-examine someone in that regard, and, certainly, it's their Constitutional right to impeach their testimony.

Your Honor, I cite to the Court the case that is styled <u>Hunt vs. State of</u> <u>Mississippi.</u> This is a decision from the Court of Appeals, 2002-CA-1302-COA. In this case the Court found the defense was entitled to cross-examine the victim on whether prior to the date that she told authorities that she had been raped, she had told Pitts of a rape in her apartment. Such question would have been proper impeachment by use of a prior inconsistent statement. This is under MRE 613 (a). There is sufficient consistency to justify its use.

BY THE COURT: Isn't the <u>Hunt</u> case a denial of a relevant subject matter, whereas in this case, it's irrelevant?

BY MR. COLLINS: Your, Honor, I did try to be very succinct in the way I presented the facts. This witness had made two different statements is what had happened. She made one statement to police authorities, she made another statement to her roommate, about her sexual history. Your Honor, Obviously, what I investigated in this case was the sex act, and the subject matter just happens to be sex, but the reality of what I'm asking is the opportunity to impeach this witness's credibility.

BY THE COURT: She told you she had not, and she told someone else that she had.

BY MR. COLLINS: She told them before she told me.

BY THE COURT: What's your position?

BY MR. BROOKS: Your Honor, we still object to it. That particular case is I assume a regular rape case involving an adult victim?

BY MR. COLLINS: It does.

BY MR. Brooks: So, it's not the same as this statutory rape situation. Your Honor, we feel it would be highly prejudicial if this is admitted. BY THE COURT: You have made your record. Overruled.

Hunt v. State, 878 So. 2d 66 (Miss. 2004), Court of Appeals, 2002-CA holds that a

prior inconsistent statement may be used in impeachment per MRE 613 (a).

The right of an accused to impeach a hearsay declarant was confirmed under MRE

806 in Nalls V. State, 651 So 2d 1074 (Miss. 1995). Although holding the error

harmless, the Court did hold that exclusion of the impeaching evidence was error.

CONCLUSION

Appellant was unable to afford the cost of obtaining expert assistance in analyzing and rebutting the DNA evidence against him. The trial court's denying Appellant's motion that the State pay for expert assistance in preparing and presenting the defense to the DNA evidence against him prevented Appellant from defending himself against this evidence because Appellant was indigent, Per *Ake v. Oklahoma* 470 U.S. 68, 1055. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985), this denial was error in that it denied Appellant equal protection of the law.

The verdict should be overturned and Appellant should be granted a new trial.