## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNNY W. LADD

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-00429-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Neshoba County indicted defendant, Johnny W. Ladd, for the crime of Statutory Rape in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* §§ 97-3-65(1)(a) & 97-3-65(2)(b). After a trial by jury, Judge Marcus D. Gordon presiding, the jury found defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court sentenced defendant to 15 years, 5 suspended with 5 years post-release supervision in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.p. 30).

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

After a night of hay riding with young friends and relatives defendant went into the living room where several children were sleeping. He removed the panties of his victim, and penetrated her with his penis. He left seminal fluid which was linked to him through expert testimony.

The jury heard much evidence and testimony and deliberated 25 minutes in finding defendant guilty of statutory rape.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### Issue I.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN DISCRETIONARY LIMITS IN RULING THE TESTIMONIAL EVIDENCE WAS IRRELEVANT.

#### Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING FUNDS FOR EXPERT ASSISTANCE.

#### Issue III.

THE SUPPOSED IMPEACHMENT SUBJECT WAS IRRELEVANT TO THE CHARGE AND ON A IMPERMISSIBLE MATTER.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Issue I.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHIN DISCRETIONARY LIMITS IN RULING THE TESTIMONIAL EVIDENCE WAS IRRELEVANT.

In this initial allegation of error counsel asserts when the trial court mistakenly sustained the State's objection to defendant's testimony about his W-2 forms being purloined... tr. 197-98.

The State objected on relevancy and the trial court sustained the objection.

¶ 25. The trial court has broad discretion in determining the relevance of evidence. Bryant, 850 So.2d at 1134(¶ 14). Upon review, we find that the trial court did not err regarding the testimony of Jeri Weaver. Thus, this issue lacks merit.

Lee v. State, 944 So.2d 56 (Miss.App. 2005).

In a diffuse, attenuated argument defendant claims the W-2 evidence was relevant. However this was not raised at trial, – nor in the motion for new trial.

It is the succinct position of the State the trial court acted within its broad discretion in sustaining the State's objection. There being no further showing, or proffer or preservation of the alleged error by defense counsel there is no merit to this claim.

Consequently, no relief should be granted based on this supposed error.

#### Issue II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING FUNDS FOR EXPERT ASSISTANCE.

Continuing the challenge to his conviction defendant asserts his counsel didn't inform the trial court of his indigent status and he was, therefore, denied funds for a DNA expert to assist in his defense.

Looking to the record, trial counsel filed a written motion for funds to secure a DNA expert.

First, the motion clearly brings to the trial court's attention the indigent status of defendant (twice) and his in forma pauperis designation. (C.p. 10).

Next, the standard of review applicable to such a question on appeal was comprehensively laid out:

¶ 32. "The standard of review of the trial court's denial of expert assistance is that an abuse of discretion occurred such that the defendant was denied due process whereby the trial was fundamentally unfair." Richardson v. State, 767 So.2d 195, 197(¶ 7) (Miss.2000) (citing Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 780 (Miss.1997)). A defendant may seek state funds for DNA analysis even though the State declines to use the DNA evidence in prosecuting the case. Richardson, 767 So.2d at 198 (¶ 11). The Mississippi Supreme Court has applied the three factors articulated in Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 77, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985), in determining whether a criminal defendant was entitled to an independent expert to evaluate DNA evidence. Coleman, 697 So.2d at 782.

The first [factor] is the private interest that will be affected by the action of the State. The second is the governmental interest that will be affected if the safeguard is provided. The third is the probable value of the additional or substitute procedural safeguards that are sought, and the risk of an erroneous deprivation of the affected interest if those safeguards are not provided.

Ake, 470 U.S. at 77, 105 S.Ct. 1087. The determination of whether the State must pay for DNA experts or analysis for the defense must be made on a case-by-case basis. Richardson, 767 So.2d at 198 (¶ 12). A defendant cannot secure DNA experts or analysis by making "undeveloped assertions" that the evidence would be helpful, rather, the State is not required to pay for DNA testing unless there is a showing that it would "significantly aid" the defense. Id. at 197, 198 (¶ 7, ¶ 12).

Brink v. State, 888 So.2d 437 (Miss.App. 2004).

Now, looking again to the record, the motion for expert assistance merely asserts there is DNA evidence in the case and they want an expert. There is no assertion. Certainly not a developed argument and not showing of how it would significantly aid the defense. (C.p. 10-11).

Absent such developed rationale and how the expert would aid the defense the trial court cannot now be held in error for denying the funds for expert assistance.

There is no merit to this allegation of error and all requested relief should be denied.

#### Issue III.

# THE SUPPOSED IMPEACHMENT SUBJECT WAS IRRELEVANT TO THE CHARGE AND ON A IMPERMISSIBLE MATTER.

At trial defense counsel sought to impeach the testimony of the victim by trying to get in testimonial evidence during cross-examination of a nurse showing that the victim had previously had sexual intercourse.

The trial court ruled such evidence was irrelevant to the crime charged.

Sadly, this said same argument is oft raised and was recently decided giving a detailed legal analysis and rationale for review, to wit:

¶ 20. Rule 412(c) provides that, if the accused wishes to offer evidence of specific instances of the victim's past sexual behavior under subdivision (b), the accused must make a written motion, with a written offer of proof, not later than fifteen days before the scheduled trial date. However, the court may permit the motion to be made at a later time, including during the trial, if the court determines that the issue to which the evidence relates has newly arisen in the case, or if the court determines that the evidence is newly discovered and could not have been obtained earlier in the exercise of due diligence. M.R.E. 412(c)(1). If the court determines that the offer of proof contains evidence described in subdivision (b), then the court must hold a hearing in chambers to determine if the evidence is admissible. M.R.E. 412(c)(2). If the court concludes that the evidence is relevant and the probative value outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice, then the evidence is admissible to the extent that an order of the court specifies the evidence that may be offered and the areas in which the victim may be cross-examined. M.R.E. 412(c)(3).

¶ 21. Aguilar argues that the court's limitation of his cross-examination of K.P. about her past sexual behavior violated his fundamental constitutional right to impeach K.P.'s credibility. Aguilar admits that the evidence did not fit any of the three categories enumerated in Rule 412(b)(2). However, Aguilar contends that the cross-examination would

have shown that K.P. was lying about never having had sex and thus the evidence was impeaching and "constitutionally required to be admitted" under Rule 412(b)(1).

¶ 22. Aguilar recognizes that, for admissibility under Rule 412(b)(1), the other evidence of past sexual behavior must not only be constitutionally required to be admitted but must be admitted in accordance with subdivisions (c)(1) and (c)(2), and that he did not comply with those subsections. Since Aguilar failed to comply with subsections (c)(1) and (c)(2), there was no error in the court's limitation of Aguilar's cross-examination of K.P. about her past sexual history. Levy v. State, 724 So.2d 405, 409(¶ 18) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). This issue is without merit.

Aguilar v. State, 2006 WL 3490798, \*5 -6 (Miss.App. 2006).

The trial court *sub judice* came to the same conclusion based upon the same argument as in *Aguilar*.

There being no error in the ruling of the trial court below there is no merit to this last allegation of error and no relief should be granted.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdict of the jury and sentence of the trial court.